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--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today with respect to an application filed by the Ontario Power Authority on November 1st, requesting approval of its proposed expenditure and revenue requirements for fiscal 2006.  An application was made pursuant to sections 25.20 and 25.21 of the Electricity Act.


The Board held a technical conference in this matter on December 8th, at which time the applicant presented its pre-filed evidence and certain questions were asked by Board Staff and intervenors.  Certain undertakings were taken and delivered on December 14th.  


On December 16th, the Board issued its draft issues list to all parties and subsequently held a hearing with respect to that matter on December 20th.


An oral decision was delivered that day, which can be found at transcript line 4, page 70 of the December 20th transcript.


The Board then issued Procedural Order No. 1 on December 23rd setting out the approved issue list and set February 2nd as the date for the hearing and January 23rd as the date for filing any additional evidence.


On January 23rd, the applicant filed a motion noting that the Procedural Order No. 2 had not set out any settlement conference and requested a settlement conference be held with respect to all or certain issues.


The same date, certain additional evidence was filed with respect to that motion.  The Board is sitting today to hear that motion.  

May we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Fred Cass for the Ontario Power Authority.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.  


MR. SCULLY:  Peter Scully for the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the Cities of Timmins and Sudbury.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully.


MR. DINGWALL:  Brian Dingwall for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stephenson.


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams on behalf of Energy Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams.  

Board counsel, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  How do you wish to proceed?


MS. SEBALJ:  I would suggest, given that this is the OPA's application, we can hear from them.  I am prepared to provide some guidance following that.


MR. KAISER:  Respond?  All right.  Mr. Cass.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  As you've already pointed out, Mr. Chair, this is a motion by the Ontario Power Authority requesting that the Board order that a settlement conference be held in this proceeding.


I submit that the benefits of a settlement conference are obvious.  They are referred to in the Board's own settlement conference guidelines.  I won't go into those in any detail, because they are set out there, and, as I said, I think they are obvious.


There are three points that I would like to make, though, in the particular context of this case.  The first point about the benefits of a settlement conference has to do with the public interest.  

My submission is that when a complete settlement is reached on an issue and then the Board accepts the settlement proposal and thereby approves that settlement, the result is what I would call buy-in from all participating parties, together with Board approval.


I submit to the Board that, from the point of view of the public interest, that is an optimum result of a regulatory proceeding.  And by “optimum result,” I mean buy-in from all participating parties and Board approval.  That's the public interest point.


The second point relating to the benefits of a settlement conference is one that I would submit is from the perspective of the Board.  The parties at a settlement conference have the opportunity to hear what each other has to say and, as a result of that, to compromise positions and to develop modified approaches.


This is not something that can happen necessarily in a hearing context.  I submit that that's something of benefit to the Board, this opportunity to potentially hear modified approaches or compromises that may have, again, the buy-in of all participating parties at a settlement conference.


The third point that I wanted to make in the context of this case has to do with the parties themselves.  This, of course, is the OPA's first case.  This is not a case where the parties, because of past proceedings, have regularly dealt with each other and have a clear understanding of their respective positions because of that.  

In this situation, where it is the OPA's first case, I submit to the Board that the parties can benefit from, in this first case, hearing what each other's positions may be.


So, again, I won't dwell any more on the benefits of a settlement conference.  Those are three points that I think are particularly apt in this case.


I will come, though, to a discussion of what the disadvantages of a settlement conference may be in this case.  I understand that there may be some issues on the issues list that would be perceived as ones that the Board ought to hear.


That may be so of certain of the issues, and, of course, the Board has the ultimate decision on that.  I submit, though, that both the Board's rules and its guidelines fully preserve the Board's discretion at the hearing, even if a full settlement conference is held.


Rule 31 makes it clear that any settlement reached at a settlement conference must be reviewed and considered by the Board.  Rule 31 also makes it very clear that the Board must be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to support a settlement proposal and that the Board can require further evidence.


Rule 32 goes on to deal with settlement proposals, and I would suggest that it is inherent, even in the description "settlement proposal," that the Board always retains discretion and control at the hearing.  The outcome of the settlement conference is only a proposal to the Board, and the Board retains its full discretion, notwithstanding any outcome of a full settlement conference.


In my submission, the guidelines go even further in ensuring that the Board retains its full discretion at the hearing, notwithstanding the outcome of a settlement conference.


The guidelines reiterate that a settlement proposal must contain sufficient evidence to support the proposal, and they go on to say that the quality and detail of both the evidence and the rationale must be such as to allow the Board to make findings.  And without reading from the guidelines in detail, at page 7 they go on to indicate three requirements that must be met by a settlement proposal in order to ensure that it assists the Board.


Again, I won't read them, but they have to do with presentation in an understandable manner, demonstrating well-referenced and transparent link to the evidence, and providing clear reasons to support acceptance.


The guidelines also explain that the Board may exercise its discretion in a number of different ways when a settlement proposal is presented to it.  This is on pages 7 to 8 of the guidelines.  Upon presentation of a settlement proposal, the Board may determine that the rationale for the settlement is inadequate.  It may determine that the quality and detail of the evidence will not support findings.  And it may even decide that it is of the view that the public interest requires a hearing of certain issues.  


So I wish to emphasize that point.  Even after a settlement conference and a settlement proposal presented to the Board, under the settlement conference guidelines the Board still has the discretion to say that certain issues must be heard in the public interest.


Even stepping back from that to where we are today, as opposed to what the Board may do upon presentation of a settlement proposal, the guidelines state and, in fact, restate that as of today, as of the time of directing a settlement conference, if the Board sees fit to do so, it may exclude issues from a settlement conference where it is of the view that the issues should be heard in full.


So, in my submission, both the rules and the guidelines are extensive in ensuring that the Board retains discretion and control at the hearing, notwithstanding the presentation of a settlement proposal.


In this particular case, we also have Procedural Order No. 3, which goes even further.  Paragraph 3 of Procedural Order No. 3 indicates that: 

“For each and every issue that may be settled at a settlement conference, there shall be a detailed settlement memorandum, and there must -- it must contain a detailed evidentiary basis and the reasons for the settlement.”

Paragraph 5 of Procedural Order No. 3 says that: 

“In respect of every one of the settled issues, if indeed there are any, there must be witnesses available to speak to those issues at the hearing.”

In summary, Mr. Chair, in this case, with the rules, the guidelines and also Procedural Order No. 3, the Board can be satisfied that whatever the outcome may be of a settlement conference, that to when the hearing of this matter starts, it will have a full discretion to proceed in such manner as it sees fit to hear evidence, if it deems necessary.
     For the reasons that I have set out, the OPA requests that the Board direct a full settlement conference at this time, without any restriction on the issues that would be open for discussion.  

As I have explained, it is my submission that the holding of a full settlement conference will not in any way affect the Board's discretion and control at the hearing.  

Also, regardless of what the issue may be that goes to the settlement conference, it is my submission that the Board's assessment of the issue at the hearing will be enhanced by knowing the extent to which, if at all, the parties can reach -- participating parties can reach a unanimous buy-in on some approach to that issue.  

It is my submission that looking through the issues list for this proceeding, that would apply to any issue that the Board will be no worse off and, in my submission, will be better off to the extent that it knows what approaches achieve unanimous buy-in from the parties.
     That, then, is the OPA's primary submission, being a request for the Board to direct a full settlement conference.  However, again bearing in mind the nature of this proceeding and some of the issues on the issues list, the OPA's alternative request is that the Board direct a settlement conference but exclude from the scope of the conference those issues that, in the Board's view, should not be the subject of ADR discussions.
     Again, the settlement conference guidelines in more than one place make very clear that that is something that the Board may choose to do at the time of directing a settlement conference.
     Those are my submissions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, in your motion, by way of alternative relief, you specifically suggested – this, of course, was alternative to your first position, which was there be a full settlement - that the exclusion, if there was to be an exclusion, be limited to issue number 1, which is the 2006 conservation operating budget.  Was there some reason for that position?
     MR. CASS:  Yes.  Yes, there was, Mr. Chair.  

It was our sense, from the argument on Issues Day, if I recall correctly - and from the exchange of views and comments that occurred on that day - that the issues under heading number 1 might be issues, if there were any in this case that the Board felt must go to a hearing without a settlement conference, it would fall into that category.  That was the reason it was framed in that fashion.  It was the OPA's sense that if there were some issues that the Board felt must go to a hearing, that the ones under category 1, given the discussion on Issues Day, might well be of that nature.
     MR. BETTS:  Mr. Chair, could I ask a follow-up question to yours just to understand it.  

You keep referring to issue number 1.  I take issue number 1 to be 1, 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4.  Is that what you intended?
     MR. CASS:  That's what I mean, Mr. Betts, yes.  It is just sort of shorthand to save stating all of those numbers, but yes, when I referred to category 1, I meant all of the issues you've referred to.
     MR. BETTS:  Okay.  Thank you.  I was a little confused in the motion where it looked as though it was focussing on issue 1.1 rather than all of them.  So thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully?  

MR. SCULLY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCULLY:
     MR. SCULLY:  I'm just scrambling to catch up with where we are.  We've just had an amended motion at the last minute.  My reading of the Board's procedural order pre-empted some of the things that were in the original order.
     We have, I don't think, any objection to what the applicant is proposing here.  I can't see any risk to the Board of expanding the settlement discussions to include items 1.  I must say originally I was going to question whether issue 1 included issues 1.2 and 1.3, which -- and 1.4, which I really thought belonged in the same group.  But I am happy to have them all on the table for a settlement process.
     Thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Dingwall.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:
     MR. DINGWALL:  We’re of the view that a settlement conference in any proceeding, and certainly one in which the applicant is a new applicant before this Board, would be of significant value.
     Given that this proceeding has been taking place under a fairly accelerated time frame, with new evidence being filed as recently as last week, it might also be helpful to give guidance to whatever settlement conference might be ordered; that there is an onus on the applicant to be cooperative within that settlement conference to provide such further information as might give comfort to the parties; that they've had the full opportunity to test or to understand any new evidence that's been filed; and also to come to the table.  But given Mr. Cass's experience, I don't doubt that that would happen in any event.
     Those are my submissions.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. Stephenson.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEPHENSON:
     MR. STEPHENSON:  We have no objection to a settlement conference here.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:
     MR. ADAMS:  I find myself to be the odd man out in this debate, sir.  We don't support the amended and the proposed amendment to the schedule to introduce a settlement conference.  

And my reasons are as follows:  Mr. Cass provided you with a philosophical survey, in general terms, about the merits of ADR, without reference to his client's application.  What we have in front of us here is an application that has experienced very significant addition to its overall content in just recent days.
     There has been no opportunity for discovery on any of that material.  The material raises -- identifies a number of important developments that are anticipated in the near future to have a direct bearing on a number of matters of concern to this Board in the area of C&DM.  Particularly, the evidence identifies a major study on fuel switching and also a major study providing an overview of the institutional arrangements underpinning C&DM across the Ontario economy, including private-sector and public-sector players.
     These are significant additions, and they represent a material contribution to the literature of this case.  It would be more appropriate for us to convene some kind of an accelerated discovery process so that we can be mindful of the Board's previous direction, in terms of the schedule, but at the same time be able to complete the record in some kind of useful fashion.
     An ADR is not an appropriate place for new evidence to be adduced.  It is not properly tested there.  It comes before the Board, if evidence has to be synthesized in such processes, there are sometimes appendices and whatnot that are attached to settlement agreements.  But major matters 

-- ADR is for the purpose of negotiation, not for the purpose of discovery.
     MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there, Mr. Adams?
     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.
     MR. KAISER:  The Board held a technical conference - I believe it was back on December 8th - at which time there was a testing of certain material.  And interrogatories or undertakings, I should say, were given.  This material that you're referring to, this is filed after the December 8th technical conference?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Can you point in the record where that is, to be specific?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  The one that raises greatest concern for me is, sir, appendix B, tab 2, schedule 3.1.  This is material that was filed on the 23rd.  This is the supplemental evidence for the conservation bureau operating budget 2006.  

I will turn you to the references for the materials that seem to me to be very substantive and requiring additional explanation before the record is complete such as to support an ultimate decision by this Board.  


The concerns that I have relate to paragraph 9 - that's page 3 - where there is a discussion about the scope of a new study that's been undertaken by a consulting company called Coffey & Fisch.


This relates to matters that are, I believe, directly a concern of this Board in its generic proceeding on DSM ‑‑ or on C&DM related to the 2006 EDR process.


Another paragraph that broaches issues of similar scope is paragraph 11.


MR. KAISER:  Is this the grant-funding policy?


MR. ADAMS:  This paragraph 11 discusses activities that are to be undertaken by the bureau related to the residential sector, and there is a study there that is identified as relating to the subject of fuel switching, where the study is to be completed in the spring of 2006.


Now, I have raised these as examples of significant initiatives.  I am not intending in my submissions to cast aspersions on these initiatives.  These may well be worthwhile activities.  I am simply addressing the procedural question of how to put this appropriately before the Board so it can be considered in a clear way.


So my conclusion is that the conditions are not right for a settlement, particularly with regard to these new areas of evidence.  

If the Board wanted to proceed, it seems to me that there are perhaps three different avenues that can be taken.  

One is to use perhaps one of the hearing days to set aside as an opportunity for a technical conference for a review of the new material.  


A second possibility is to proceed with a settlement conference, as proposed by the applicant, but to exclude from that settlement conference the newly-introduced material.  That would leave the hearing as the opportunity for this new material to come before the Board and for discovery to take place live.


A third possibility is to simply proceed with the existing schedule.  Now ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Let me stop you there.  By that, you mean have a full hearing on February 2nd?


MR. ADAMS:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  I thought your concern was only with respect to this CDM area, or do you have a concern with respect to the other four areas?


MR. ADAMS:  No.  It's this new material that gives rise to the grounds for my argument before you.  Of these three options that I have presented to you, I mean, I'm expecting you to ask me which one I would recommend, which one I would prefer.


MR. KAISER:  I was going to get to that, but I didn't want to rush you.


MR. ADAMS:  You're a little bit predictable, sir.  I'm having difficulty coming up with an answer to the questions that I presented to you, because I'm not clear on what your flexibility is around timing.  If there was a little flexibility around timing, which I would like but may not be able to impress you with, then my proposal would be to convene a technical conference first and extend the hearing period after.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. ADAMS:  Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Board counsel, have any comments?


`SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SEBALJ:

MS. SEBALJ:  Board Staff has no express objection to the OPA's application.  We found Mr. Cass's presentation helpful, but I would like to go into more detail, from the perspective of Board Staff, to provide some guidance on the issues or the issue that is before you.


The threshold issue for determination for the Board in the motion is really whether you should hold a settlement conference in this proceeding at all and then, if so, what should be included, if anything, as the issues in that settlement conference.


The issues are, of course, a little bit intertwined, because you will want to think about the issues before you make a decision on the threshold question of whether to hold the settlement conference at all.


With respect to both issues, as Mr. Cass quite correctly pointed out, most of your guidance will be derived from the settlement conference guidelines, and I wanted to go into some detail with respect to those guidelines as well.  

I won't repeat what Mr. Cass had to say, but the guidelines obviously set out an overarching theme, and that is that the Board has a commitment to the settlement conference process as part of its objective of achieving regulatory efficiency and effectiveness.


The guidelines also note, however, that the Board may exclude certain issues from a settlement conference where it is of the view that those issues should be heard in full.  

Implicit in this latter consideration is, of course, the closed and confidential nature of a settlement conference.  Neither Board members nor, in general, the public can participate.  As such, they're not advised of the admissions, the concessions, the offers to settle, and the related discussions that take place.  

The Board may, therefore, feel there are some issues in this particular application that are more appropriately dealt with in a public forum by way of a public hearing.


The rationale for holding a public hearing on certain issues is one of transparency, to which Mr. Cass referred.  And those -- the transparency issue comes into play when there are issues surrounding the public interest, which of course is the Board's broader -- the broader mandate.  


I wanted to point to you a specific quote in the guidelines, and I do have copies of the guidelines if the Panel would like to see them.


MR. KAISER:  That would be helpful.


MS. SEBALJ:  I have more copies if anyone in the room needs a copy.  I believe it is at page 8.  Just let me make sure that is correct before I lead you astray.  

At page 8, this is in the context of discussing the Board's treatment of issues in a settlement proposal, but I think it still provides guidance.


It says:

"Where the Board is of the view that the public interest requires a hearing of certain issues, the Board will hear evidence on those issues even if they were dealt with in the settlement proposal, as well as on any issues excluded from the settlement conference."


So that deals with both the issue to which Mr. Cass referred, and that is that your discretion always exists, regardless of a proposal, to reconsider issues in a public hearing, but also to your ability to exclude issues from the settlement conference.  

And that is just by way of guidance.  Again, this isn't a position of Board Staff.  This is just simply providing guidance as to what you may do.  


So in evaluating the OPA's request for a settlement proposal in this proceeding, the Board must consider whether the public interest requires a hearing of any of the issues.


Ultimately, this determination is one that the Panel must make.  What is in the public interest in this case will depend on the types of issues and the decisions made by or the discretion afforded to the OPA in respect of those issues.  It may, therefore, be that the Board determines these issues -- that the issues contained in the issues list have broad policy implications that reach beyond the four corners of this proceeding.  These may well be more appropriately considered in a public forum.  By excluding such issues from the purview of a settlement conference, the Board contributes to the transparency of a discussion surrounding the issues that are in the public interest.
     I wanted to provide you –- again, I need to emphasize that this isn't a Board Staff position; it is just simply guidance.  But there is, I won't call it precedent, because I don't think that is the appropriate term, but there have been recent matters where the Board has used its discretion to exclude issues from the settlement conference purview.
     So those were the IESO fees case in the notice and the upcoming natural gas electricity interface review.  In both of those cases, the Board saw fit to exclude issues.  I do have copies of those procedural orders, if you want to see them.
     MR. KAISER:  Do you know what the rationale for that was?
     MS. SEBALJ:  The rationale was that these were public policy issues that deserved a full and transparent hearing.  

Now, I should be clear that in the IESO fees case, ultimately the Board -- initially excluded the issues and then ultimately came to the determination that they could be the subject of a settlement conference and then the Board would ultimately use its discretion as to whether the proposal before it was appropriate.  
     MR. KAISER:  Well, I think what happened is they withdrew part of their claim, and that made the issue go away, as I recall.  They had a big claim initially or a big expense relating to a day-ahead market, which they ultimately withdrew, and that caused the matter to go away, as I recall.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I think that that was on one issue, but I thought there were a couple of other related issues that ultimately went to settlement, but you're quite right on the day-ahead market issue.
     I don't want to belabour the point necessarily from Board Staff's perspective, but what I thought would be the logical way that the Panel would sort of see fit to looking at this was to look at the individual issues that are before you and then determine whether there are any issues that are of such broad policy importance or public interest that you would see fit to excluding those from the settlement conference process.
     So I reiterate, Board Staff is not, in principle, against the resolution of any of the issues on the issues list in this proceeding by way of settlement conference.  In fact, I might characterize it as indifference.  As long as the concerns or the outstanding questions that Board Staff has with respect to some of these issues are addressed, we don't necessarily have a preference as to whether they're addressed in an ADR or in a full public hearing.
     So what I had thought I might do, subject of course to your preference, was to do a review of the issues, in turn, to give a flavour of some of the questions that remain outstanding, to help you determine whether any of those questions are the types of things that you would see as more appropriate for a hearing, as opposed to a settlement conference.  I'm not sure if that is helpful to you at this point.  

MR. KAISER:  I think that is helpful.  We would like to hear you on that.  

But can you help me with this:  In this case, the Board's jurisdiction ultimately is to make recommendations, to send the application back, if you will.  Not to disallow it as you would in a rate case, disallow certain expenses and reach a final decision, but merely to make recommendations, presumably for the reconsideration of the applicant.
     Does that have any bearing on whether settlement conferences are desirable or not?
     MS. SEBALJ:  I think it does.  That, particularly in the context of an expenditures case, where the -- ultimately the approval is related to the expenditures rather than necessarily the policy issues, the policy decisions that go beyond the expenditures.  

But I would submit that absolutely because the Board's mandate is somewhat different than it normally is and that you can -- that it can be an iterative process, for lack of a better word and, if there are concerns, that those can go back to the OPA; I think, absolutely, that lends itself to an ADR more so than perhaps other cases.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams says matters shouldn’t go to settlement if there hasn't been -- if the evidence hasn't been tested in some fashion, in a discovery process or a technical conference.  Do you agree with his position?
     MS. SEBALJ:  I'm not entirely certain whether that's correct.  I would have to look at it.  But what I would suggest is his second suggestion of new material being only on the conservation and demand management side of things, I think that we could proceed to a settlement conference but exclude that newly-filed evidence.  I would suggest that I think he's quite correct it is substantive in nature, but there is not a whole lot of volume - put it that way - of new evidence that's been provided by the OPA.  So that is potentially a good suggestion.
     The other thing is I'm not sure - and I will defer to Mr. Adams on this - how much time we would need to appropriately discover the evidence that's been filed.  So it may be possible to have that discovery, rather than being in writing, in a quick technical conference, say, the morning of February 2nd or something like that, if the Panel wanted to keep the schedule the way it is.
     I'm not obviously suggesting that we constrain people from a scheduling perspective, but that may be a creative solution to this.  Is that helpful?
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A settlement conference is not inconsistent with some manner or form of technical conference.  There is no inherent -- they're not mutually exclusive.  Would that be your view?
     MS. SEBALJ:  I take Mr. Adams' point that the object of a settlement conference, of course, is negotiation on the issues.  So the best-case scenario is to arrive at the settlement conference with all of your questions answered so that you can then take positions on the day of the settlement conference and hopefully reach a negotiation    -- sorry, reach some form of settlement.  

The idea, I suppose, would be that there could be some level of discovery as well as settlement.  There are two days set aside, and so that may be possible.  I wouldn't suggest that it is optimal, but I'm not sure that it's impossible.  I will obviously let Mr. Adams respond to that.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams, you've raised this issue.  Do you have any idea how long it would take to - and your other colleagues - to properly discover on this new material?
     MR. ADAMS:  That's an important question.  And I hesitate to speak on behalf of other parties, but I -- I can outline in general terms some of the issues that we think this evidence gives rise to, to illustrate the point that the applicant may require some time to provide a fulsome reply.
     The new evidence refers, in several places, to both ministerial and government directives.  I'm not clear that all of the directives that apply to the -- I can point you to some instances of that.  They're in paragraphs 9, 11, 12, perhaps elsewhere.  

The reason I am raising this is one of the things we would be asking in a technical conference was a catalogue of the directives that are applicable to the OPA, so we have a kind of more complete sense.
     Now, I'm at a disadvantage.  I believe some of these directives may be on the public record in other places, but I am not sure about the standing of that information 

vis-a-vis the Board's processes and the rules of evidence in this case.  I may be missing something, but one of the questions we would be asking was for a catalogue of this kind.
     Now, I wouldn't expect that the OPA would be able to just pull that out of -- you know, off of a computer screen someplace; although, maybe they could.
     I'm guessing that not more than a morning would be required for this new material to be discovered in a technical conference context, and perhaps if the parties were provided ‑‑ were to provide the applicant with notice of questions in any of these substantive areas, the applicant might be able to attend at the settlement conference and fill the record in with the necessary material in an efficient fashion.


Of course, the attraction is that in doing so, all of that becomes part of the public record and easily accessible to the Board and to the public.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Adams, could I ask a question?  I think what the Board is dealing with now are two issues before it.  One is whether or not there should be a settlement conference, and the other one is how do you deal with new evidence that's been recently filed that has not yet been tested?


And we may be confused if we don't keep that separation in mind.  It's quite possible that the solution both lays in the same process.  I'm not certain of that yet, but I certainly have been convinced that there needs to be a better understanding by all parties of the new information that has been filed.


Let me ask this question, which might help me to understand:  What if this motion for a settlement conference had not come forward?  What would your position have been going into a hearing with that new information filed?  How would you have dealt with that as an intervenor?


MR. ADAMS:  What we would have done was used the hearing as a discovery process.  I mean, it is messy, but it works.  You know, we've done it before.


MR. KAISER:  That's what a hearing is for.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. BETTS:  You would simply use the ability to cross-examine as a way to better understand the information?


MR. ADAMS:  And transcript undertakings.  In situations like this, this is not unusual, you know, for an applicant to come before the Board, make some substantive changes, sometimes even in evidence in‑chief.  We find ourselves as intervenors sometimes coming to a hearing without a clear idea of what the solution is for a particular issue, and the hearing process reveals them often.


So the default position, which is the existing procedural orders that the Board has issued, is a sound position.  I think the Board can move forward with confidence.  If we can improve upon that through some adjustments to the process, that would be fine.  But if the Board is troubled by any of this, I think you are perfectly safe to proceed and deny the motion.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Adams, another question for you:  If the settlement conference was widened in scope to include some technical conference portion to deal with the new evidence, does that ‑‑ do you think that might resolve the concerns that you have?


MR. ADAMS:  I think that may be an excellent suggestion.  I should have thought of it myself.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A question for Board counsel:  Is there any prejudice to any person if that approach were to be taken, if a portion of the proposed settlement conference would be allocated to be a technical conference?  Is there prejudice to any party?


MS. SEBALJ:  If that party - in this case Energy Probe - is happy to proceed that way ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm thinking about all of the other parties.  Energy Probe seems to be okay with it, but I'm thinking ‑‑ there is no notice at this stage of a proposal for a technical conference.  Are there any conditions under which that would be prejudicial to anybody's interest?


MS. SEBALJ:  The way I'm thinking that through is simply that the only other way that the Panel could have gone on this was to allow for written interrogatories on the new evidence, and so that would simply be the timing.  I'm not sure that there is any prejudice, and, in fact, it may be better to have those questions answered live or by way of undertaking, and so I don't see any prejudice to any party.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There was a technical conference earlier with respect to the balance of the evidence.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  It was a fulsome technical conference.


MR. KAISER:  Just on that question, Mr. Adams:  Were you in attendance on December 8th, the technical conference?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, we were.


MR. KAISER:  Was that a satisfactory process in terms of getting the information you required and on the record at the time?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  So one option - there are a number of options - we could hold another technical conference and give notice to anyone who might be interested in it, with respect to the new evidence.


MR. ADAMS:  You could give the notice by way of your ruling on the motion today.


MR. KAISER:  I think I heard in your answer to 

Mr. Betts that you would regard that as acceptable?  You just want discovery before you proceed with any technical conference?


MS. SEBALJ:  Settlement conference.


MR. KAISER:  Settlement conference, excuse me.  You just want adequate discovery of this new information before you proceed to a settlement conference?  If you get that, you're happy to have a settlement conference?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I am.  My intention here is just to make sure the record in front of you, for the purposes of your ultimate decision, is a complete one and in the public.


MR. KAISER:  We know that you're interested in the CDM issue, and there are some other parties.  Mr. Sommerville quite properly is worried about the fact that a lot of them aren't here today.  Can we read anything into that?  Do you know if they have any position on this new information, or are you the lone person that is concerned about it?


MR. ADAMS:  As you will know, our views on C&DM somewhat depart from many other parties amongst the environmental community, certainly.  But I am not aware of their ‑‑ I have not discussed this with any other parties to this proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, can I ask you a question?


MR. CASS:  Certainly, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  You pointed out in your submissions that the Board, in its Procedural Order No. 3, had taken some pains to describe the process that would take place if there was a settlement conference, including full written material and so on.  This was lifted, I think, by Board Staff out of the decision in the Toronto Hydro, Toronto Ottawa cases, where they requested a settlement conference.  


At the time, we were concerned that that was the first time those utilities were up to bat for a real review and we wanted to make sure that -- while we didn't want to dissuade a settlement conference, we wanted to make sure that the review of the settlement proposal was meaningful.  

But one of the things we said in that order - and it is repeated in this Procedural Order No. 3 - is that the questioning would be limited to Board Staff, because presumably the other parties were in settlement.


You pointed out in your submissions that in a settlement, when the Board reviews the settlement proposal, according to the rules, not only can they request evidence, but there can be examination of the evidence by all parties.


I'm just ‑‑ if there is this concern ‑‑ let's leave the discovery issue aside.  Let's suppose we solve the discovery problem, which I think is solvable.  When we come down to the settlement proposal, this being an issue that a number of intervenors are -- instead of excluding it, we say, Okay, see if you can settle everything, but with respect to this issue - and I think you suggest in your submissions - we want to put you on notice now that not only do we want to have detailed written material and witnesses available, but we want to have questioning on that.  Instead of the restriction that is in Procedural Order No. 2, we will permit anyone to put questions.


 Is that acceptable to you?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I am struggling a little bit.  Certainly the settlement conference guidelines - and I won't read them - they envisage a scenario in which a settlement proposal comes to the Board and the Board says, in whole or in part, This must go to a hearing in the public interest.  In that scenario, then, yes, it goes to a hearing and everybody has a chance to ask questions.  Effectively, I think there is no longer a settlement.


I'm just not sure, Mr. Chair, how it would work in the scenario where instead of the Board saying that, there is a settlement, but parties are going to ask questions about it, parties who participated in the settlement.  I think the difficulty would then be in knowing what you actually have at the hearing.  If parties start questioning it and potentially their questions seem to be undermining what is in the settlement, does the Board still have a settlement at the end of all of that?  That would be an area

confusing --


MR. KAISER:  Either there is a settlement or there is not a settlement.  The approval of the settlement is for the Board to investigate and query and question, not for other parties who presumably have settled on the matter.


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair, I agree, but the Board does have the discretion to say, We think this should go to a hearing in the public interest and, therefore, we don't accept a settlement.  Then in that scenario, there is no settlement and all parties can question.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Chair, before Board counsel goes to reviewing the list of issues ‑ and I am interested in that as well ‑ I did have -- since we have gone back to Mr. Cass at this point about questions, I did have some that I would like to ask as well. 

Typically, Mr. Cass, the settlements that have come before me, settlement proposals that have come before me, carry this wonderful little clause in it that the Board can do whatever it wants, but if it doesn't accept it in full, then we don't have a settlement at all.  Would that be the intent again?
     MR. CASS:  In other words --
     MR. BETTS:  Let me -- before you answer that, let me just tell you what pressure that puts on the Board.  Where there are one or two issues that the Board may feel require further review, the pressure is put on the Board to do it all over again or do none of it.
     So how can the applicant help me, as one Board panel member, to give me some comfort that one could fully test a single or more than one issue without having to discard the whole settlement?
     MR. CASS:  Yes.  Mr. Betts you're referring to language that I am familiar with that would, in effect, say that the parties have agreed on this settlement as a package.  And if it is not accepted as a package, then there is no longer any settlement agreement or settlement proposal.
     Mr. Betts, the difficulty I would have is I couldn't know, on behalf of the OPA going into a settlement conference, to the extent to which any other party might take that position, that if they're going to settle issues, it has to be a package.  So I don't know that I could make the commitment to you that the outcome of the settlement conference would never be on that basis.
     I can say two things though:  First, again, if the Board doesn't like the package, the Board can refuse to accept the entire settlement proposal, and the case will go to hearing.  This is not such a large case as some others are where I think the Board might be as concerned about that.  In other words, in very large cases, with a lot of issues that would have to go to hearing, if a settlement proposal was not accepted as a package, I think the Board would have a bigger concern.  Here, if the Board isn't happy with the package and the entire settlement falls down, I don't think that is as much of a concern about going to the hearing, because the scope of the case is not nearly so big.
     Second, from the point of view of the OPA itself – again, I can't speak for other parties - I think the OPA would certainly agree or would have no objection to proceeding on the basis that the series 1 issues, all of the issues under category 1, could be -- could go into the settlement conference on the basis you have described, 

Mr. Betts; that is, that they can't be part of a package that would be presented to the Board only for acceptance as a package.  Again, that is only the OPA's position.  I can't speak for other parties, but the OPA would not have an objection to that.
     MR. BETTS:  Mr. Cass, let me ask you this question:  Do you think it would totally undermine the objectives of a settlement conference if the Board started off by saying that the Board will not accept that clause in the settlement; that, in fact, the Board reserves the right to accept some of the settlement proposal and not all of it?
     MR. CASS:  Mr. Betts, I will express my personal view, and someone can kick me under the table if it is not the view of the OPA --
     MR. BETTS:  Maybe you should talk -- before you get kicked, to make sure you know what the single position is.
     MR. CASS:  Mr. Betts, the concern is that, from experience, in the way settlement conferences work, that things are often, if not always, accomplished by 

trade-offs.  Parties listen to each other on different issues.  They see different perspectives on those issues, and they come to compromises that, again, based on my experience, tend to be as a result of a discussion of a group of issues that parties can see a compromise.
     The concern would be, then, that if parties were told that any sort of package like that, where putting a group of issues together they can see a compromise approach that works for everyone, that that wouldn't be acceptable, I think it would be an impediment to a settlement process.
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  You led me down another corridor, that give and take that happens in settlements, and although the Board knows nothing about what goes on in settlements, we have a feeling that is in fact what happens -- how does it serve the public interest, the lack of transparency, to understand how parties reach that position?
     You've indicated -- in fact in your opening statement you indicated that the public interest is served by us knowing that everybody in that room agreed.  How is it served by not understanding how they reached that agreement?
     MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Betts, first I would observe that many of these issues are interrelated, and that's why this process works.  If these were all entirely discrete issues and parties were doing trade-offs as among or between them, I can see the Board's concern to know, Well, how does trading off issue A against issue B serve the public interest?
     In the context like this, where the issues are so interrelated, I think it is different and the Board can understand that putting the issues together as a group, taking a different approach on one issue may derive a different approach on another issue.  
     How does the Board understand that all of that is in the public interest, I think is your key question?  Well, that essentially comes down, I believe, to the settlement proposal.  In this particular case, not only do we have the settlement conference guidelines, but we also have Procedural Order No. 3, making extremely clear the need not only for -- of the evidence to support the settlement proposal to be set out but also the rationale or the reasons.  And I think it is there, where it would lie on the parties, coming out of any settlement conference, to make sure that the rationale for a package settlement, if there was one, is fully explained in a manner that the Board could see how the public interest is being served.
     MR. BETTS:  The other question that came out of your response earlier was there was suggestion that the Board Panel may have the opportunity to review any one of those individual issues and, in fact, to hear the responses to questions asked of experts and so on.
     It seems to me that it is not reasonable to expect that the intervenor groups, who agreed to a certain position on an issue, that they would in fact have a fulsome cross-examination of that issue.  Would the Panel, therefore, have to depend upon Board Staff and Board Counsel to question the parties and bring out the kind of information that the Board Panel needs to make its decision?
     MR. CASS:  All right, Mr. Betts.  I believe, then the scenario you're talking about would be one where a settlement proposal comes to the Board and in whole or in part the Board says, Notwithstanding this settlement, one or more issues must go to a full hearing in the public interest.
     MR. BETTS:  Or even so far as saying, the Board would like to understand more fully this issue and, in fact, the settlement and that we want to question parties.  This was what the Chair was talking about as an alternative.
     MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, Mr. Betts, again I would put that into two categories:  If the Board is wanting to understand the settlement but not looking at refusing to accept a settlement, then I think it, again, is perfectly appropriate that the questioning be limited to Board Staff and the Board to understand what the settlement is and decide whether the Board is going to accept it.
     Again, I think it would be very confusing in that scenario, where you believe that you have parties to a settlement, if they were then to start asking questions about it, and I don't think the Board would know are those questions undermining the settlement that those parties have agreed to or not.  I think that would be very confusing.  

So in a scenario where the Board is just wanting to understand the settlement, I think it is very much the case that the questions should be limited to the Board and Board Staff.
     In the scenario where the Board says, No, we're not going to accept this settlement for any number of reasons, one of which may be because we think it is in the public interest that the issues go to a hearing, then there is no longer a settlement.  Parties would be able to cross-examine.
     At that point, if they felt prejudiced, if they felt that they simply could not proceed to cross examine at that time and could tell the Board the reasons why, then I think the Board would have to address it then in that scenario where the Board does not accept a settlement proposal.
     MR. BETTS:  I have one more question for you and I can leave when you're going to do your reply, because you have already given it to me, but it is a question of the unique situation where the Board -- there is two unique situations that are occurring here or two unique characteristics.

One, we're going to -- we're in a position here where we may or may not be wanting to make recommendations to the OPA.  And with that, I think it is difficult to even admit this, but probably the Board requires a better understanding than they were -- than they would require if they were simply in a position of accepting or rejecting a proposal.


So that in itself might imply a requirement for the Board to understand better.  

Tacked onto that we are seeing the OPA for the very first time, and, in fact, the public is seeing the OPA for the very first time.  And in that ‑‑ we're always weighing the issues of transparency against expeditiousness ‑ that's not the right word ‑ about being efficient and effective in regulation.  

I'm having a little bit of difficulty with the prospects of accepting a settlement package that the public really hasn't had the time to ‑‑ or the opportunity to fully understand.


It goes to you saying you think it is important for the parties to understand what is going on.  There is also -- it's important for the Board to understand what's going on.  Can you give me your position on all of that, if ‑‑ I hate to have to repeat it all, so do your best.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Mr. Betts, if I may, the first two points you talked about:  One were the Board ‑‑ one was the Board's role in giving recommendations, and the other had to do with this being the OPA's first case.  I can see one arguing either way on those issues as to what they tell us in relation to the merits of a settlement conference.


Certainly my submission to the Board and my belief is given that it is the first case, that's all the more reason for a settlement conference, because the parties are so unfamiliar with each other's positions in relation to the type of issues arising in this case.  

I gather, from your point, Mr. Betts, that you feel that because it is the first case, then that is an extra reason why the Board would want to hear more than it might hear in a settlement proposal.  I understand that point as well.


So, as I said, there are points going both ways on that as to what significance one attaches to the fact that it is the first case.


Your other point about recommendations, my first reaction was the same as what I think Ms. Sebalj said, which is that given the Board's role to make recommendations, the settlement conference might be all that much better, because then in making the recommendations, the Board, with the outcome of a settlement conference, still is not restricted in any fashion but does have the benefit of perhaps a different perspective that may come out of a settlement proposal, a perspective being a compromise or a modified approach based on discussions amongst the parties.  Again, I can see that one can make the point either way.  

I still, though, Mr. Betts, in answer to your final question, come back to what the Board said in Procedural Order No. 3 about setting out the rationale for any settlement.


You are expressing concern about the Board being able to be sure that its ultimate decision and recommendations are in the public interest and the concern about doing so in the context of the OPA's first case.  That suggests that, to the extent that the settlement conference is successful, there is this real onus on the parties to make sure that the rationale is explained in a way that the Board can feel satisfied that it is fulfilling that role.


I think that is emphasized in Procedural Order No. 3, the need for that rationale, and I think your comments today are emphasizing it.  

So what I would take out of all of this is not so much that the settlement conference cannot be effective for any of the reasons we have just been talking about, but that the Board would really want to see the rationale as to why anything coming out of a settlement proposal should be approved by the Board in the public interest and that perhaps the need for that rationale is greater than it might be in a different case.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  I think I have effectively derailed the process here, and I'm sorry for having done that.  

I did want to say one thing, though:  The Board Panel may find it necessary to change some of what was laid out in that Procedural Order No. 3 as the process and its expectations as a result of what we hear today.  So I will just give everybody that heads‑up.  Sorry, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, can I just follow up on that?  As Mr. Betts has pointed out and as I think as I pointed out, this is a bit of a unique proceeding because of this recommendation aspect.


If you import into this proceeding this custom that you have that you have to agree that it is a package deal, you come to this conclusion that you would be arguing and the parties would be arguing, Board -- unless you accept our recommendations on issues 2, 3, 4 and 5, you cannot make a ‑‑ in other words, we're being bound.  


Do you anticipate at a settlement conference the parties, you and the other parties, are going to come with your draft recommendations, if any, on each of these five issues?


MR. CASS:  I had not anticipated that, Mr. Chair, no.


MR. KAISER:  You see, it is a strange concept, because let's take this CDM issue, which is the live issue.  One could contemplate a situation where the Board might make recommendations to the OPA with respect to some of this material.


And we have a full review and all of the nice things that are in this procedural order, and we come up with different recommendations.  Then if you have this package concept, you say, You can't make those recommendations ‑‑


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, I hadn't quite understood that to be the package concept.  The package concept to me meant there is a settlement of issues just, say, 3, 4 and 5, and those are a package as amongst all of the parties who have agreed to the settlement.


So either there is a full settlement on all of those, or else, if there is not, then the parties no longer have an agreement.  The effect of that would be that, unfortunately, it constrains the Board from saying, Well, we accept the settlement on 3 and 5 but not on 4.  I didn't understand that to have ‑‑ to be relating to the Board's issue about attaching recommendations.  It would be picking and choosing the issues that are settled and are not settled


MR. KAISER:  As I understand the package-deal concept, the parties come to the Board with a settlement proposal and say it is all or nothing; right?  The Board cannot say, We like your settlement on issues 2 through 5, we do not like your settlement on issue 1, CDM.  We can't do that.  We can't make a recommendation to the OPA that they go back and develop targets for CDM or whatever the Board's recommendation is.  We can't do that without turning the whole thing into a hearing.  Is that right?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, there are two points I would like to make, if I may, the first in direct response to your question.  Mr. Chair, I don't really see the scenario you're describing as being fundamentally different from what would happen at a hearing without a settlement conference.


As I understand what you're saying, the recommendations that the Board is talking about would be recommendations that the Board puts into play by reason of its power to attach conditions to an order.  At the end of a hearing without a settlement conference, the Board might approve the application but have conditions that really are recommendations that need to be implemented.


The same could happen, in my submission, with a settlement proposal.  The Board has the same powers when it looks at a settlement proposal to order as it sees fit.  The Board could order, We accept this settlement proposal but with conditions.  I don't see that as being fundamentally different.


However, Mr. Chair, if I might just state my second point, which is that this issue about recommendations is, in fact, what is causing the Ontario Power Authority great difficulty in this proceeding.  The difficulty is that fundamentally what the Ontario Power Authority seems to be called upon to respond to is potential recommendations that the Board may make in this case.  But the OPA has no idea what those are and apparently may not know until the Board issues its decision.  


As a result, it is very difficult now to address on behalf of the OPA what the effect of the Board wanting to impose these recommendations might be.  It's something that the OPA doesn't really have an opportunity to respond to, not knowing what they are.


MR. KAISER:  No.  I'm not asking you to respond to any specific recommendations.  When I look at what I think was intended by paragraph 5 of the procedural order, it basically said you can have a settlement conference, but the Board is going to do a thorough examination on each and every one of the issues.  That's what it says.


But then if you have this clause in the settlement proposal, it means -‑ and this has been described by 

Mr. Betts -- if we have a problem with one of them, let's say CDM, we have to throw everything into a hearing.  Everything gets thrown out.  And that sort of drives you to this procedure that we've developed of excluding certain issues from settlement.  We did this in the IESO case, and that's the problem.


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  

     Mr. Chair, I've endeavoured, as best I can, to state the reasons why, at least in my experience, I think parties have found the package approach to a settlement conference to be useful.
     I think - again, I'm speaking only from my experience - but the fact that it comes up so often, again, in cases I've been involved in -- it's almost virtually every case.  The reason it comes up so often shows how effective that is in helping parties reach a settlement.
     However, I can tell what concern it is causing the Board in this case.  If the Board is so concerned about it, to direct that a settlement conference occur in this case but that there be no package settlement, so be it.  

Again, I've done my best to explain to the Board how it does assist settlement, and I believe there are many settlement proposals that the Board has ultimately accepted that prove that, that prove how successful the package approach has been.  But if it is of that much concern to the Board, of course it is ultimately up to the Board to direct how any settlement conference would proceed.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, are you aware of any situations where a settlement proposal has been brought forward to the Board and the Board has, in fact, extracted one or some issues from that and the settlement proposal has still survived in large part with the exception of the amendments to specific elements of the settlement proposal?
     MR. CASS:  You're testing my memory, Mr. Sommerville.  I know in the past there have been cases where the Board has disagreed with elements of a settlement proposal.  I would be going beyond what my memory would allow me to repeat accurately if I attempted to give you my recollection of that history.  I'm sorry.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough.
     MR. KAISER:  Let me ask one further question.  This is a legal question.  I would like Board Counsel's view on it.
     Would we have the authority, in your view, to authorize a settlement conference on all issues with the condition that there be no package deal, whatever, however you describe that?  Do we have that authority?
     MS. SEBALJ:  It's a question for me first?  Sorry, I thought you were looking to Mr. Cass, then me.  Yes, you do have the authority.  You have discretion within the settlement conference guidelines and within the rules to change the procedure to suit the application.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, do you agree with that?
     MR. CASS:  Yes, I do, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry.  We interrupted your argument substantially.  I apologize.
     MS. SEBALJ:  That's fine.
     MR. KAISER:  Did you want to take the morning break now?  Would that help?
     MS. SEBALJ:  I'm in your hands.
     MR. KAISER:  You were looking at your watch.

SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SEBALJ:
     MS. SEBALJ:  I just wanted to make sure -- I don't want to belabour these issues but it really depends on -- I'm in your hands if we need a break.  I shouldn’t be more than hopefully five or ten minutes.
     So what I propose to do is review the issues, in turn, to provide a very brief synopsis of some of the residual concerns.  “Concerns” is probably too strong a word.  I would call them areas of exploration that the Board Staff would want to explore either in the context of an ADR or in the context of an oral hearing.  
     The purpose is to allow the Board to hear the nature of the Board Staff's outstanding issues, and that might provide you with a little bit more information in making your determination with respect to what issues are amenable to settlement and what issues might be more appropriate for a public hearing.
     So taking the issues one by one, I will just give you sort of a global thought of what I believe is a global thought of Board Staff on conservation and demand management; that is, that it is -- it is early days for the OPA, and I think there has been some expectation for a very definitive policy coming out of the OPA.  And the Board staff's perception is that it rather should be a plan to set up a framework for C&DM rather than having the framework in place at this stage, given the budget that we're seeing before us.
     In terms of the actual issues, conservation, strategy, and program coordination is the first sort of umbrella issue, and the sub-issue is specific goals for CDM project initiatives.  I'm just going to go through Board Staff's sort of more detailed areas of exploration, as I said.
     In some program areas, there appear to be some -- there appears to be some level of detail with respect to goals; whereas, for others there is less detail.  

As Tom Adams has indicated, there is new evidence before us -- some of that new evidence goes to the level of detail on some these programs having reviewed it sort of in a cursory fashion.  

It would be helpful if the OPA could be more definitive about when it will be in a position to have a more fulsome and detailed plan with respect to each of the project initiatives - again, I emphasize, in a position to provide a plan rather than having the plan - and what steps it sees as being required to get to that plan.
     Again, still under this heading, the Board would like to see some sort of structured procedure to evaluate CDM projects for timelines, performance results, cost-effectiveness, budget variance, and so on.
     With respect to the next heading "Coordination of OPA targeted sector activities with similar LDC initiatives," at the technical conference there was a little bit of confusion as to how closely the OPA is presently working with LDCs to monitor CDM initiatives.  I guess some more clarity on this working relationship, both presently and going forward, would be helpful.
     With respect to assessment and establishment of overall OPA LDC programs and funding levels -- so I am now at 1.1.3.  Sorry, I'm hoping that you're following me.  

From a big picture and funding-level perspective, without getting into exact detail about each program as managed, Board Staff would like to be sure that the OPA has or is putting together a strategy or a plan to ensure it's oversight role over all CDM activities.  On a related point, Board Staff would also like to see a plan to review scope, scale, and funding required of the OPA CDM initiatives.
     MR. BETTS:  Ms. Sebalj, can I interrupt you?  Some of the things you just mentioned - I just want to make sure what I'm hearing here - seem to relate more to discovery -- not this particular one.  I think in this one, there is a sense that Board Staff would like to see the process lead to something.
     In other cases, I sensed that you were saying Board Staff would like to know more about something.  And I just want, as you're going through this, to make sure you deliver the message to me that what I'm looking for is the issues here that -- I guess what would help me is to know which issues here Board Staff feels will not be resolved in -- not be resolved satisfactorily to the public in a settlement process.  I don't know whether you want to be so forthright as saying that, but --
     MS. SEBALJ:  I had anticipated that question, actually.  I was hoping not to have to deal with it directly, but I had anticipated it.
     From Board Staff's perspective, all of these issues -- and I will say it again:  The issues can be dealt with satisfactorily to Board Staff in an ADR process or in a public hearing.
     I won't answer the residual question of what is appropriate to go to a public forum or not.  I really do think that is in the Panel's hands.  That really is a matter of your discretion, and I wouldn't want to infringe upon that discretion.  So the public policy aspect, I think, is in your hands.  

From Board Staff's perspective of the types of things we’d like to see – and I take your point - it is less about questions.  We've had a full opportunity for discovery at the technical conference and took advantage of that, but -- and more about sort of tangible results.
     I would describe it as a plan for a plan.  We don't necessarily need to see the plan right now, and we understand it is early days.  But in all of these aspects, it's the strategic steps going forward to get you to a place where you will be able to put something forward that is a plan for CDM and for most of the other issues, quite frankly.
     So I don't necessarily have to belabour it and go into every issue, but, that is, essentially most of these will end in my saying, you know, to provide the steps to get to a plan where you're going to be spending more monies in future years presumably on these things.
     So to your question, the -- we get into a question of:  What is Board Staff's role at a settlement conference?  I think that there is, again, some leeway with respect to what role Board Staff can play at a settlement conference and whether counsel is present and things like that.  But our preference would be to be able to, at the very least, provide the OPA with a list of the types of questions we would like answered or the types of things we would like to see coming out of a settlement conference and have Board Staff, non-legal Board Staff, attend or have full attendance at the conference and be able to negotiate in the same way any other party would.
     We had actually discussed a preference for -- for an issue-by-issue, rather than a package deal settlement, just simply because of the nature of some of these issues and the ability to do that would be more helpful.


I do understand Mr. Cass's point, and that is it may be more difficult to come to a settlement because we don't have the ability to trade off.  But because of the nature of some of these issues, that might be more appropriate.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  Did you want me to continue or ...?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.


With respect to 1.1.4, the organization of overall CDM program direction and review of OPA LDC responsibilities and funding breakdowns, this point, again, the Board Staff would like to see a plan for having not just the OPA's CDM plan but a knowledge, an overarching knowledge, of the OPA's CDM plan and all of the LDC’s CDM plans so that we can then look better at the coordination of those plans and whether there is any overlap.


Under 1.2, the OPA's plan to study provincial CDM potential and methodologies for extending the reach of CDM programs, in an undertaking that followed the technical conference the OPA indicated that it will initiate a study to review the current reach of CDM programs and to further examine how to extend that reach for the 4.3 million customers in Ontario.  So that area has been, I think, adequately addressed.  

Of course, the next step is always the question.  So the next step would be to put in place appropriate terms of reference for the strategy.


Under 1.3, the conservation fund evaluation and assessment methodology and effectiveness determination, the OPA has identified a protocol to select programs that qualify for the conservation fund.  The Board Staff would like to explore whether and when the OPA will be in a position to provide evaluative criteria to measure the program benefits and results coming out of the fund.  So in other words, it is pretty clear how one ‑- how a project becomes part of the fund.  The question then becomes what the ongoing monitoring of that is.


Quantitative and qualitative overall 2006 performance targets, 1.3.  In the technical conference, the OPA was reluctant to specify an overall demand reduction target for 2006.  I'm not sure that that causes the Board Staff a terrible amount of concern, but there should be some objective OPA performance measure; if it is not a demand reduction measure, then some other measure for advancing the CDM program.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Has any other party indicated an interest in that?


MS. SEBALJ:  In this particular question?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  In this room?


MR. KAISER:  This was on the issues list; right?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, it is on the issues list, and this issue, I believe ‑- I can be corrected.  They're not in the room.


MR. KAISER:  I guess we had argument on it?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, it's in the technical conference.


MR. KAISER:  On December 20th.  


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe that VECC expressed a concern in this area.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So they will be arguing for the position that you're outlining now?


MS. SEBALJ:  The demand reduction target?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  I'm not sure they would be arguing.  They certainly asked questions at the technical conference with respect to it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  So moving on to issue number 2, which is retail services, the 2006 operating budget, the role of the OPA in market design activities.  The synopsis of the Board Staff's area of exploration in this piece is simply that there have been some initiatives that are definitely on the OPA's plan, including LSC initiatives.  The question is whether that is necessarily the appropriate initiative.  


So -- and this gets down to the question that I brought up earlier of looking at a budget versus the policy underlying the budget, but the question is:  Of all of the issues that were possible in looking at market development projects, are these necessarily the most appropriate ones?


With respect to 2.3, the relationship with the IESO's market development programs, there is an MOU, memorandum of understanding, with the IESO on these issues.  There may be more detail needed in the future on the specific interfacing between the OPA and IESO, but that has been satisfactorily addressed.


With respect to 2.4, the technology fund evaluation and effectiveness determination, the OPA has indicated it is putting forward $1 million and that it will be cooperating with other agencies to essentially operate the program.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Sebalj, can I back you up for a second?  You indicated that the interfacing between IESO and OPA has been satisfactorily addressed.  Is that what I heard you to say?


MS. SEBALJ:  In general, it's been satisfactorily addressed.  We will have some specific issues with respect to how, on specific programs, the two are interfacing.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that "satisfactorily addressed" characterization is a Board Staff characterization as to whether that issue has been satisfactorily addressed?


MS. SEBALJ:  These are all Board Staff characterizations, to be clear.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Can I stop you there?  I don't mean to interrupt you, because you have gone through this a number of ‑‑ when you say that any one of these has been satisfactorily addressed, do we imply from that that you're happy that we go to settlement?  We're here to discuss what issues go to a settlement conference.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Should we read into those comments that you're happy if that issue goes to settlement?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, that is the short answer.  The long answer is that when I say it is satisfactorily addressed ‑ I'm sorry that I wasn't clear on this ‑ that there may be some detailed issues, but they're not the sort of large issues that we think that require ‑‑ would require a public hearing.


MR. KAISER:  So without commenting on the sufficiency of evidence on each and every one of these points, I understand in some cases you think it is less well-addressed than other cases.


MS. SEBALJ:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  From Board Staff's position, are there any of these issues that you say should not go to settlement?


MS. SEBALJ:  The Board Staff's position is that all of the issues can be adequately addressed in a settlement conference provided that Board Staff can participate in that ‑‑ in a more ‑‑ potentially a more fulsome way than is traditionally the case, not necessarily outside the scope of what Board Staff can do, but often Board Staff sit and observe a settlement conference.


MR. KAISER:  I heard your comment on that earlier, and I was wondering why you were addressing that to us.  I mean, we're not governing this procedure.  Are you asking us to somehow define how Board Staff can participate in a settlement conference?  Do you need any guidance from us, or can't you just decide how you want to do it?


I understand the thrust of your argument.  I'm trying to figure out what you want us to do; somehow, as part of this procedural order, say, And Board Staff shall participate vigorously?  What is it you're asking us to address?


MS. SEBALJ:  That's a fair question.  I'm not sure that I'm asking anything of you.  I think you're right; Board Staff can participate in whatever way it sees fit, as long as it doesn't depart from the rules and the settlement guidelines.


My thought process, I guess, was to just provide some advance notice that Board Staff may participate in a more fulsome way than is traditionally the case.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, any objection to that?  I mean, I know we're going beyond, but since Board counsel has addressed this, she wants to put you on notice that if there is going to be a settlement conference - I'm reading into her words - she intends to participate more vigorously than Board counsel has in the past.  Any problem with that?


MR. CASS:  No, fundamentally there is not, Mr. Chair.  Of course, there would be an issue about Board counsel having a bigger role in the settlement conference and then also having an advisory role to the Panel.  But I understand we're not talking about that.  So, no, there is no issue.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would we anticipate Board Staff making representations with respect to the settlement agreement, as to the sufficiency of the settlement agreement?  Is that what we would expect to see at the end of the day?  You would participate in the settlement agreement.  Would you be a party to it?  Would you be making judgments about the sufficiency of the arrangement?


MS. SEBALJ:  There are a couple of proposals that have been put forward by Board Staff.  One is that simply a sheet of paper or two be provided with a list of the types of issues Board Staff would like addressed in the context of the settlement conference.  Whether or not they are addressed is the subject of a later -- when the proposal comes forward, such that the concern ‑‑ the underlying concern, of course, is that Board counsel doesn't want to exert some sort of influence over the negotiations or have any effect that would make the parties less apt to put their settlement positions forward in a free way, without any concern.


So that is one proposal that's been put forward, is to just simply register the issues and have a non‑legal member of Board Staff attend.  Another possibility is have them -- to have them participate fully, in which --
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You can see a difficulty.  If Board Staff engages vigorously in the settlement agreement and then the settlement agreement issue for –- and I don't know whether you're a party to that settlement agreement or whether you're a stranger to it or whether -- what you do at the end of the day.  I think this is what we're getting at -- is that you would then provide your opinion in submissions to the Board about the sufficiency of the settlement agreement.
     I'm not sure whether that gives Mr. Cass any pause, but it gives me a little pause, about a participation in the settlement agreement, some amorphous status with respect to the outcome, and then an ability to ambush it at the end of the day.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I agree.  I'm not sure that both can be done.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, I don't think it can.
     MR. KAISER:  If you agree to a settlement, you can't ambush it.  Let's suppose you're a party - whatever that means - in a settlement conference, but you go in and you reflect Board Staff's view.  At the end of the day, there would be a settlement.  If you're participating actively, as you suggest, you would have to either agree or disagree.  So if there was a full settlement, you would have agreed.
     MS. SEBALJ:  If there was a full settlement, my understanding --
     MR. KAISER:  If there wasn't a full settlement, then it would come back here that this issue wasn't settled, and there would be a hearing on it.
     MR. BETTS:  If I may, just in processes that I have been involved with in the past -- not knowing what goes on in the settlement room, and, quite frankly, we do not know what goes on.  I have understood in the past a system that tends to work is for Board Staff and Board Counsel to participate but to take a softer role, a more -- a role -- a little bit more of a facilitating role, a role to mediate.  But out of the process, out of the settlement, they clearly come out stating that:  We are not a party to this in any way.  We have taken no position on it in any way.
     If that were to happen - I think the people in the room are much more experienced with settlements than myself - but I think that that is a system that they're familiar with, and I would be interested in anyone's feelings on that.
     Mr. Cass, you have been exposed to that kind of a process, I believe?
     MR. CASS:  Yes, I have, Mr. Betts.  If I might interject a comment, and if I might start from the settlement conference guidelines and then come directly to your question, Mr. Betts.
     The settlement conference guidelines, in fact, say that staff will not sign the settlement proposal.  They also say that staff may, at the direction of the Board at the hearing, examine on a settled issue to provide information necessary to complete the public record.
     So I wouldn't have anticipated that a greater role for Board Staff at the settlement conference in this case would have gone to the extent of actually having Board Staff sign the settlement proposal, contrary to what is contemplated in the settlement conference guidelines.  

However, there are other things discussed here for Board Staff to do that in my experience, as you said, 

Mr. Betts, to the extent that they are done at all by Board Staff at a settlement conference, it is in a very soft manner.
     So, for example, the guidelines say that Board Staff will attend to ensure that all relevant information is brought forward; they will present options for the consideration of parties; they will offer advice on the strength and weakness of parties’ proposals.  

In my experience, to the extent that is done at all by Board Staff, it is very soft, to use your word.  So there certainly is more of a role to play for Board Staff to   play in doing the things that are in the settlement conference guidelines without actually signing the settlement proposal.
     Then at the hearing, even though Board Staff has not signed the settlement proposal, there is a role under the guidelines for Board Staff to help the Board complete the public record, to the extent necessary, for the Board to understand the settlement proposal.
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams.
     MR. ADAMS:  If I wouldn't be out of order, to respond to Mr. Betts' wider question.  I will observe that historically it was a practice for parties in the discussion process -- in the ADR process, that is -- I'm sorry, intervenors to circulate position papers.  And that process fell into disuse, and I think partly because it lost its value.
     Many parties started putting in position papers that just itemized the issues list and said their position is to be expressed at the settlement conference.  So the position papers became quite un-useful.  

But there was a period of time where Board Staff responded to that development in the culture of ADR by putting forward not position papers, but what they did was they did itemize evidence lists.  In many cases they capsulized some bits of technical evidence in areas like, for example, ROE calculations.  

So they would present the –- itemize the interrogatories that were relevant and sometimes present tables of information showing alternative means of calculating, you know, some particular issue.
     And that unfortunately -- in recent years, I think there have been some instances where Board Staff had wanted to do that but didn't have the time available to complete that work.  And just speaking on behalf of many intervenors, it was considered to be a great loss when that contribution of Board Staff fell out of disfavour or that resource became unavailable or less fulsomely available to the process.
     I'm giving you more than you probably want to hear on this point, but I did want to make the point that an articulation or capsulization of the evidence by Board Staff has historically been extremely useful contribution.
     MR. BETTS:  Does Board Counsel have any comment about my question and the responses?
     MS. SEBALJ:  On the signing off by Board Staff of the -- I don't think there is any intention for Board Staff to actually sign-off on the settlement proposal.  I think that would be inconsistent with our role.
     MR. BETTS:  The other question, then, was the softness or hardness of the position of staff, whether they become advocates or whether they become facilitators.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I do have some experience with settlement conferences, sitting in Mr. Cass's position, not nearly as much as Mr. Cass does.  And my experience with Board Staff has been that it has been a very, very soft touch and that, in fact, often we don't hear from Board Staff at all during a settlement conference.
     So I guess moving to Mr. Adams' point, I think that that is where this thought process is coming from, is from a historic use of the ability to provide some kind of guidance on an upfront basis, in a written document on the evidence; that those are where the instructions are coming from, from a Board Staff perspective.
     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?
     MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.
     MR. KAISER:  Take 20 minutes.
     --- Recess taken at 11:11 a.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:45 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


MS. SEBALJ:  May I address a point of process?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Let me just get the system working here.  There you go.


MS. SEBALJ:  Just on a point of process, I was wondering whether there was any indication of time lines, I guess, from the OPA and from the Panel.  There is another hearing that is scheduled to commence, and I guess there are notifications that have to happen in that regard, if they are going to hold that hearing today. 


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think, unless we hear differently from ‑- how much further argument do you have?


MS. SEBALJ:  Very little.  Less than five minutes.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  I would hope five minutes on the outside, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully?


MR. SCULLY:  I don't think I have anything further to say.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  Nothing, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think ‑‑ what time was the other hearing to start, do you know?


MS. SEBALJ:  It's scheduled to start for 1:00, but I believe they wanted to give notice before noon.  


MR. KAISER:  Why don't you tell them to start at 2:00 just to give us some extra time?


MS. SEBALJ:  All right, thank you.  Do you want me to continue?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, please.


CONTINUED SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SEBALJ:


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe where I left off, in terms of the issues, what Board wants to hear on these issues, I had left with respect to -- I had left issue 2, I think, completely, leaving on the technology fund.


MR. KAISER:  Subject to my fellow Panel members, I don't know that we necessarily need to hear your position on each and every issue.


As I understand it, your basic position is that you feel all of the issues identified in the issues list can go to settlement, subject to completing the discovery process with respect to the new evidence.  Is that your position?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  That is Board Staff's position, that we're not opposed to settlement, that we would prefer to have an issue-by-issue settlement rather than a package settlement.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MS. SEBALJ:  and just for clarification, because there's some questions that came up on the break, I wanted to put on the record that this is proceeding as a one‑Staff model, not a two-Staff model from the Board's perspective.  So the implications from that will flow further.


MR. KAISER:  Can we assume, with respect to that, that some confusion may or may not impact people's understanding of the process going forward?


The role of Board counsel -- the role of Board Staff, I should say, is set out at page 5 of the guidelines.  Can I assume that you will be acting in accordance with those?


MS. SEBALJ:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Is that sufficient, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  It certainly is, Mr. Chair, yes.


MR. KAISER:  That clarifies that.  

Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, that is very helpful.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Well, unless you have anything further, I think we can hear from Mr. Cass.  Anything further?


MS. SEBALJ:  That's fine.  Nothing further.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Mr. Chair, the only objection to the notion of a settlement conference in this proceeding came from Energy Probe.  As that was pursued, though, I gathered that the concern was more about need for some more discovery, as 

Mr. Adams called it, rather than the concept of a settlement conference itself.  


In fact, I think in response to a question from you, Mr. Chair, Mr. Adams said that if there was some further form of technical conference, he would not have an objection to the settlement conference.


That then brings us to the notion of holding a technical conference in advance of the settlement conference.  

On the schedule, I think two days this week are available, February 2nd and February 3rd.  If, in fact, the CDM issues are to be included in the settlement conference, the OPA has no objection to the idea that at the outset of those two days that someone from the conservation bureau attend for a technical conference to deal with the concerns expressed by Mr. Adams about some further discovery, again to use his word.


Just a couple of points to make in relation to that.  First, as to how much time it would require, I point out that the first technical conference in this case, covering all issues, was completed in a day.  I think it was comfortably completed.  It certainly was not a situation where anyone was pressed for time, I don't believe.  So given that what is at issue here is some new evidence on CDM, I would think that half a day would be ample time for a technical conference.


Just for the record, while I'm at that point, as well, I do wish to point out that the new evidence that has come forward, as someone else has already said, is not all that extensive.  And the reason for it, of course, was because of the issues that were put on the issues list in relation to conservation; this being, again, the one series of issues, the OPA felt it was important to have some evidence addressing those issues, but I don't think it is particularly extensive.  I would believe that one half-day would be ample time.


Mr. Adams also made the comment that parties could give advance notice of some of their questions so that the OPA would be better prepared to actually have the answers available on that day.  That was done very effectively by some parties with the first technical conference.  Board Staff, in particular, gave advance notice of questions.  

It sounds, sitting here today, that both Board Staff and Energy Probe already know what some of their questions are, So I would think it could be very effective if those were provided in advance, either formally or informally.


So having said that, I think that is really all that I needed to say.


I did want to come to the question of the recommendations that have been discussed today, if I might, Mr. Chair.  This is digressing slightly to another point, but recommendations by the Board Panel seem to be a very important part of today's discussion, and they were -- also seemed to be a very important part of the discussion on Issues Day.


If I may, and with the greatest of respect, just again reiterate the concern of the OPA.  To the extent that this hearing is going to end up in recommendations from the Board as to things that the OPA should do, it would be very helpful to have some means of knowing in advance what the debate is about.  It's very difficult for the OPA to address recommendations that would appear in the Board's decision.


The analogy that I would draw would be leave to construct cases where, in my experience, Board always has conditions of approval that go on to a leave to construct.  

Again, in my experience, those are typically given in some form to applicant in a leave-to-construct case for the witnesses to comment on, and then the Board has the benefit of those comments when it ultimately attaches its conditions.  


In any event, again, because the recommendations have been a matter of discussion both today and previously, I did just want to express that concern to the Board, that the OPA would hope to have some opportunity to comment on what the ultimate recommendations might be.


MR. KAISER:  Just one question, Mr. Cass, on that.  You may recall this came up on Issues Day, when Mr. Vegh was acting as Board counsel.


The section that you've been referring to, 25.21(2) says the Board may approve the proposed requirements or may refer them back to the OPA for further consideration with the Board's recommendations.


So you have to turn down ‑‑ I mean, I suppose you can do it individually and on certain items, but you have to turn it down and then send it back with recommendations.  

Do you recall the question that came up on the Issues Day was whether ‑ and you have alluded to this in your licence application situation ‑ whether the Board can approve, with conditions; that is to say, not simply reject and send it back for consideration, but whether it can approve with conditions?  I think Mr. Vegh's response was that the Board could do that.  Do you agree with that?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I don't have my copy of the Ontario Energy Board Act in front of me, but it is my recollection that it provides for that.  It provides that the Board may attach conditions to any order, going from memory.


MR. KAISER:  And what you're saying, just to make sure we have your position clear or, at least, I have it clear, is that if, after hearing the evidence, the Board has in mind attaching conditions, it would at least give the applicant an opportunity to comment on the conditions?


MR. CASS:  To the extent that that is possible, 

Mr. Chair, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Before issuing the order.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Again, Mr. Chair, I would hope that it would be of benefit to the Board, because the Board might have in mind some recommendation that the OPA would be able to give the Board some information about what would be relevant to the Board's recommendation, if only it was known what it might be.  So I would hope that it would be helpful to the Board.  Of course, it would only be where it is possible to do so.


MR. KAISER:  One last procedural point.  Let's assume we agreed with what seems to be accepted by all counsel, there should be a further technical day or discovery process prior to the settlement conference, I presume we could leave it to you to notify all interested parties so they would have sufficient time?  I think this was Mr. Sommerville's concerns.
     Any further submissions?
     MR. BETTS:  I have one further question.  I just want to make sure I understood Mr. Cass -- by the way, we're trying out some new hardware, which we don't have today, which is live transcription.  I don't have it today, or I would know the answer to this question.
     I believe what you said, when you described the technical conference, I believe you started by saying, "If the CDM issues are included in the settlement conference," then you would have a technical conference?
     MR. CASS:  That is what I said.  Then the OPA would have no objection; that's correct.
     MR. BETTS:  Are you saying that if they weren't included in the settlement conference, you wouldn't have a technical conference on that issue?
     MR. CASS:  Well, that would be up to the Board, I guess.  The point I was addressing was that there has been discussion here about what would be in and what would be out of the settlement conference.  And on the assumption that those issues were in the settlement conference, the submission I was making was that it would make sense, for the reasons Mr. Adams has described, to have the technical conference first so that people like Mr. Adams feel that they have the information they need to then go into the settlement conference.
     MR. BETTS:  I'm not arguing with you at this point, but it seems to me that I've heard parties say that the first technical conference was very effective.  Would it not make sense to have a technical conference on the new evidence, regardless of whether or not there was a settlement conference?
     MR. CASS:  Mr. Betts, really it is other parties who are expressing the concern about discovery.  It was not our perception that the new evidence was so great that it couldn't just be dealt with at the hearing.  Certainly other parties at the same time they've talked about further discovery have also seemed to suggest that they could go to the hearing and deal with the matter.  This is what leaves me with the submission that it seems to be the desire to have the additional information to feed into the settlement conference that's driving these submissions that I've heard from others.
     As far as I've heard others speaking, they would be happy to go to the hearing with the record as it is now and to deal with the new evidence there at that time.
     MR. BETTS:  Mr. Chair, would it be reasonable to ask Mr. Adams whether that was correct?  If there was to be no settlement conference, do you -- would there be any need, or not, to have a technical conference?
     MR. ADAMS:  It might be useful to have a technical conference, particularly if parties were able to 

pre-circulate their questions in advance to assist.  But the -- but I think it is not necessary.  It's really a question of how much of these replies the Board needs to receive directly, while you sit there.
     If a technical conference -- the discovery is going to happen, I think, needs to happen one way or the other, with the Board sitting at the dais or with just the parties gathered in the room and the transcription taken care of, the record.
     MR. BETTS:  I see what you mean now.  Thank you very much.  That's all for me, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  We will endeavour to come back in 20 minutes with our decision.
     --- Break taken at 12:00 p.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 12:10 p.m.


DECISION:

 MR. KAISER:  The Board has heard argument today with respect to a Notice of Motion filed with the Board on January 23rd by the applicant, Ontario Power Authority.  This is in the context of the OPA's application filed on November 1st, 2005 for approval by the Board pursuant to sections 25.20 and 25.21 of the Electricity Act of the OPA's proposed expenditure and revenue requirements for 2006.


The Board has held a technical conference and has issued an issues list and on January 17th set the dates for the hearing in this matter.  

The Notice of Motion filed on January 23rd asked the Board to establish a settlement conference prior to such a hearing.  The relief requested by the applicant is either a settlement conference regarding all issues, or, alternatively, a settlement conference of all the issues, with the exception of the issues in section 1 of the issues list which, broadly described, relate to the 2006 conservation and operating budget.


All of the parties are in favour of a settlement conference, with the exception of Energy Probe; that raises a specific issue with respect to the conservation issue.  In particular, they say that a settlement conference is not appropriate given the late filing of evidence with respect to the conservation bureau's operating budget for 2006.  That material is Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 3.1 of the evidence.


Dealing first with that issue, the Board agrees with Mr. Adams that he should have an opportunity to test that material prior to proceeding with the settlement conference.  In terms of timing, the Board is aware that February 2nd and 3rd have been set aside as dates for dealing with this proceeding.  The Board believes the first portion of the February 2nd date could be used for this purpose and directs that this take place and that the applicant provide answers to Mr. Adams' questions and also that the applicant notify all parties that such a technical conference will be held with respect to that matter on that date.


With respect to the broader issue, the Board agrees with submissions of counsel for the applicant that settlement conferences are desirable, that they promote regulatory efficiency, and subject to certain safeguards, which we will enumerate in a moment, believes that in this case a settlement conference on all issues would be appropriate.  

The dates, as indicated, will be the afternoon of February 2nd and the following day, as previously set out in the schedule.


Procedural Order No. 3 sets out certain procedures with respect to the dealing with the Board's review of any settlement proposal that is ultimately agreed upon.  Those would stay in place.  


We have a couple of other issues that have arisen in the course of this morning's proceedings.  The first relates to the question of a package deal.  I'm using that term in the general jargon.  

It has been the practice in the case of settlement conferences that the parties proceed to the Board for approval of a settlement with the understanding inherent that the Board must accept all or none of the settlement agreement.


Board counsel has suggested that in this case the issues, in terms of settlement, should be dealt on an individual basis.  The Board agrees with that.  In saying that, the Board is not suggesting that the standard practice is, in any way, to be altered.  But this is a unique case.  This is the first time that the OPA has come before the Board.  In such a situation, it is important that the Board have maximum flexibility to deal with the issues.  


So while the Board directs that a settlement conference take place on the terms described, we do so with the understanding that the parties will not include such a term in any proposal coming forward to the Board.


The last issue relates to the role of Board counsel.  This was really not an issue in the motion.  It came up in the course of the motion.  It has been clarified that Board counsel will be acting in accordance with the settlement procedure guidelines that are currently in place.  I believe it is at page 8 of the guidelines.


As to the discovery process or technical conference, one further clarification is in order.  All parties are requested to provide the questions on the new evidence to the OPA in advance of the February 2nd technical conference.  That will assist and ensure that the matter can be dealt with in a timely fashion in order that the settlement conference can proceed on the dates set out in the Procedural Order No. 3.



That completes the Board's ruling in this matter.  Thank you all for your assistance.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.
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